RECEIVED 03-05-2020 CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

# STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2018AP594-CR

## STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

## LEEVAN ROUNDTREE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction, the Honorable William Pocan Presiding, and the Decision and Order Denying Postconviction Relief, the Honorable David A. Hansher Presiding, Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court.

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

KAITLIN A. LAMB Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085026

### ISSUE PRESENTED

Like many people, Leevan Roundtree kept a gun in his bedroom for the protection of his home and his family. He was not supposed to possess a gun because, over a decade ago, he was convicted of failure to pay child support—a felony offense. Under sweeping language of Wis. the Stat. 941.29(2)(2015)<sup>1</sup>, every person convicted of a felony even a felony involving no physical violence—is banned from possessing a firearm for the rest of his life. The ban has no time limit and the statute contains no mechanism by which a person may petition for the return of his constitutional right to keep and bear arms. At issue in this case is whether Wisconsin's lifetime firearm ban is unconstitutional as applied to Mr. Roundtree, who was convicted over ten years ago of failure to pay child support, a nonviolent felony.

The postconviction court declined to reach the merits of this issue, finding that Mr. Roundtree's plea forfeited his right to challenge the constitutionality of the firearm statute.

Mr. Roundtree was convicted under Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2). Since then, the legislature repealed and renumbered subsection (2) to (1m)(a), leaving the language essentially the same. See 2015 Wisconsin Act 109. Unless otherwise indicated, all statutes in this brief refer to the statute in place at the time of Mr. Roundtree's offense, October 30, 2015. (1).

The court of appeals did not address whether the guilty plea waiver rule barred Mr. Roundtree pursuing his as-applied constitutional from challenge, finding that the argument failed on the merits.

## POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND **PUBLICATION**

By granting review, this Court has deemed this case appropriate for oral argument and publication.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

2015, Milwaukee police October 30. executed a search warrant at Mr. Roundtree's home where he lives with his wife and four adult children. (1:1; 44:5). A revolver and bullets were found in his bedroom, underneath his mattress. (1:1).

The state charged Mr. Roundtree with one count of possession of a firearm by a felon, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2). (1:1). The complaint alleged that Mr. Roundtree had previously been convicted in Milwaukee County Case No. 2003-CF-2243, for failure to support a child (120+ days), a Class I felony, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.22(2). (1:1-2).<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> According to the state at sentencing, Mr. Roundtree was convicted of two counts of failure to pay child support in 2003-CF-2243 and two counts of failure to pay child support in an earlier 2003 Milwaukee County case. (47:5). The State (continued)

Mr. Roundtree promptly entered a guilty plea on January 5, 2016 to a single count of felon in possession of a firearm as charged. (46; 18). At his subsequent sentencing hearing, the state noted:

> Our office's general position is that, if you are a felon and you have a gun, absen[t] extraordinary circumstances, we recommend prison. It's appropriate given the nature of these offenses.

> And, perhaps, you can make the argument that it's unfair to Mr. Roundtree that the general problem of guns that we have in our town rubs off on him a little bit; but it does. We have a huge gun problem here. And the rule is, if you are a convicted felon whether it's for child support or murder, it doesn't matter, you can't have a gun.

And this particular gun had been reported stolen out of Texas. The defendant told police that had he known that it was stolen, he would not have bought it. But then at one point then he didn't know he couldn't have a gun [sic]. But he didn't buy this at a gun club, obviously. He bought it he said from some kid on the street or words to that effect.

So, Mr. Roundtree has not been a problem for society at large; it's a problem for his kids. He's not paying his child support. But that's something that I'm assuming since those cases haven't come back up, I'm assuming or guessing that he [has] ... taken care of that.

indicated that Mr. Roundtree was sentenced in both cases at the same time and received probation. (*Id.*).

(47:6-7) (emphasis added).

The defense noted Mr. Roundtree, who was forty-seven years old at the time of sentencing, was an older individual and was not "young and reckless." (47:10). Defense counsel argued Mr. Roundtree "did not have a lengthy habitual criminal record. His prior felony is for failure to pay child support which, in itself, is not an inherently dangerous crime. He has not engaged in considerable acts of violence. Mr. Roun[d]tree has six (6) kids. Unfortunately, he did not uphold to [sic] his father responsibilities in these kinds of cases." (47:7). The defense further noted that Mr. Roundtree "actually did not know that he was prohibited from possessing a firearm" and "even had a hunting license." (47:7-9).

The Honorable William S. Pocan sentenced Mr. Roundtree to eighteen months of initial confinement and eighteen months of extended supervision. (47:19; 18:1).

Mr. Roundtree filed a postconviction motion, arguing that Wisconsin's felon in possession of a firearm statute was unconstitutional as applied to him. (29). The postconviction court ordered briefing, after which it entered an order holding the postconviction motion in abeyance pending a decision in Class v. United States, 138 S.Ct. 798 (2018), in which the United States Supreme Court was considering whether a guilty plea inherently waives a defendant's right to challenge the constitutionality of his statute of conviction. (30; 33).

After the United States Supreme Court issued a decision in *Class* holding that a guilty plea does not waive a claim that a charge is unconstitutional, the postconviction court issued a decision. (40). Despite the holding in *Class*, the Honorable David A. Hansher determined that Mr. Roundtree waived his constitutional challenge to his conviction by entering a guilty plea. (40:2; App.107). In addition, the court explained that it was not persuaded that this case "raises an issue of state-wide importance which would warrant putting aside the guilty plea waiver rule." (40:2-3; App.107-108).

Mr. Roundtree appealed. The court of appeals, in a per curiam decision, found that the firearm ban was constitutional as applied to Mr. Roundtree. State v. Roundtree, No. 2018AP0594, ¶ 12 (April 4, 2019) (unpublished) (App. 105). The court of appeals rejected the proposition that "it matters what particular nonviolent felony is the subject of the underlying conviction" and explained it was bound by its previous decisions in State v. Pocian, 2012 WI App 58, 341 Wis. 2d 380, 814 N.W.2d 894 (holding that the felon in possession statute was constitutional facially and as applied to a defendant whose three underlying felonies involved "physically taking a victim's property"), and State v. Culver, 2018 WI App 55, 348 Wis. 222, 918 N.W.2d 103 (holding that the firearm ban was constitutional as applied to a defendant whose underlying felony was for an operating while intoxicated, fourth offense). See Roundtree, No. 2018AP0594,  $\P\P$  8-11 (App. 104-05).

Mr. Roundtree filed a petition for review from the decision of the court of appeals, which this Court granted.

Additional facts will be included as necessary below.

## **ARGUMENT**

I. Wisconsin's lifetime firearm ban for all felons is unconstitutional as applied to Mr. Roundtree, who was convicted over ten years ago of failure to pay child support, a nonviolent felony.

#### Introduction. Α.

Wisconsin Stat. § 941.29(2) provides that a person convicted of a felony in this state:

> [I]s guilty of a Class G felony if he or she possesses a firearm under any of the following circumstances:

> (a) The person possesses a firearm subsequent to the conviction for the felony or other crime, as specified in sub. (1)(a) or (b).

This statute bars a person convicted of any after felony from possessing a firearm conviction—forever.<sup>3</sup> Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Notably, there are hundreds of crimes that amount to felonies in Wisconsin: adultery; income tax evasion; theft of (continued)

statute does not distinguish between serious felonies, such as first-degree intentional homicide punishable by life in prison, and less serious felonies, such as animal three releasing an times authorization, which carries a maximum potential term of initial confinement of eighteen months. See Wis. Stat. §§ 940.01; 943.75 (2). Nor does it distinguish between violent felonies and non-violent felonies. Compare with Wis. Stat. § 941.291 (prohibiting persons convicted of a violent felony from possessing body armor); alsoWis. see§§ 301.048(2)(bm)1.a, 973.017(5)(a)2.

As a previous decision observed regarding Wisconsin's statutory designations:

One man beats his wife, harming her physically and emotionally and traumatizing their children who witness the assault. He may, however, *only* have committed battery, a misdemeanor punishable by less than one year in jail. Another man enters a garage to steal a shovel; he has committed burglary, punishable by years in prison.

One woman drives while intoxicated, threatening the lives of countless citizens. Under Wisconsin's drunk driving laws—the weakest in the nation—she has committed a *non-criminal* offense if it is her first, or only a misdemeanor unless it is her fifth (or subsequent) offense. Another woman,

farm-raised fish, twice; graffiti; unlawful use of a recording device in a motion picture theater, twice; falsifying business documents; or forgery.

however, forges a check; she has committed a felony.

The felony/misdemeanor statutory designations are replete with anomalies such as these . . . .

State v. Thomas, 2004 WI App 115, ¶¶ 47-49, 274 Wis. 2d 513, 683 N.W.2d 497 (Shudson, concurring) (footnote omitted).<sup>4</sup>

The statute also does not contain a time limit for a felon's firearm dispossession, nor does it provide any mechanism by which a felon may petition for reinstatement of their rights in the future. Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2).

Rather, a person who possesses a firearm at any time, if they have previously been convicted of any kind of felony, is always subject to prosecution for a Class G felony in Wisconsin, which carries a maximum possible penalty of ten years in the Wisconsin state prison system, and/or a \$25,000 fine. Wis. Stat. §§ 941.29; 939.50(3)(g).

In this case, as discussed below, Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2) is unconstitutional as applied to Mr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Thomas applied the rational basis test to analyze a challenge to Wis. Stat. § 941.29. See Thomas, 2004 WI App 115, ¶¶ 21, 23. In District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 628 n. 27 (2008), however, the United States Supreme Court held that this test was improper when analyzing a Second Amendment challenge.

Roundtree, who was convicted over ten years ago of failure to pay child support, a nonviolent felony.

#### В. Standard of review.

The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law which this Court reviews de novo. State v. Baron, 2009 WI 58, ¶ 10, 318 Wis. 2d 60, 769 N.W.2d 34.

Usually, courts presume the constitutionality of a statute. See State v. Alger, 2015 WI 3, ¶ 22, 360 Wis. 2d 193, 858 N.W.2d 346. However, a law that is challenged on Second Amendment grounds is not presumed constitutional. State v. Herrmann, 2015 WI App 97, ¶ 11, 366 Wis. 2d 312, 873 N.W.2d 257 (citing Ezell v. City of Chicago, 651 F.3d 684, 706 (7th Cir. 2011); District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 628 n.27 (2008)). Rather, the state has the burden of establishing the law's constitutionality. *Id*.

#### C. Individuals have a right to keep and bear arms.

The Second Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that "[a] well regulated Militia, being necessary to the security of a free State, the right of the people to keep and bear Arms, shall not be infringed." Similarly, Article I, Section 25 of the Wisconsin Constitution, states "[t]he people have the right to keep and bear arms for security, defense, hunting, recreation or any other lawful purpose."

Filed 03-05-2020

As this Court recently stated, "[t]his is a species of right we denominate as 'fundamental,' reflecting our understanding that it finds its protection, but not its source, in our constitutions." Wisconsin Carry, Inc. v. City of Madison, 2017 WI 19, ¶ 9, 373 Wis. 2d 543, 892 N.W.2d 233. (citation omitted).

In 2008, the United States Supreme Court held that the Second Amendment confers an "individual right to keep and bear arms," rejecting an argument that the amendment conferred only a collective right limited to militia members. District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 598 (2008). The Court's historical analysis noted that the predecessor to the Second Amendment was the English Declaration of Rights in 1689, which assured that Protestants would never be disarmed. Id. at 592-95. By the time the United States was founded, the right secured in 1689 was "understood to be an individual right protecting against public and private violence." Id. at 593-94. The "central component" of the Second Amendment, the Court held, was individual self-defense. Id. at 599, 628-29.

Two years later, the Court extended the applicability of the Second Amendment to the states and struck down a ban on handguns. McDonald v. City of Chicago, 561 U.S. 742 (2010).<sup>5</sup>

 $<sup>^{5}</sup>$  Five Justices—Roberts, Scalia, Kennedy, Thomas, and Alioto—voted for the judgment of the Court that the Chicago handgun ban was unconstitutional and that the Second (continued)

Both *McDonald* and *Heller* acknowledged that, like the First Amendment and most other rights, the Second Amendment is not unlimited. *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 626; *McDonald*, 561 U.S. at 786. However, neither case defined the precise limitations of the Second Amendment.

## D. This Court should apply strict scrutiny.

Heller and McDonald did not identify the applicable level of judicial scrutiny that should be used to determine whether a law is unconstitutional under the Second Amendment. Heller, however, rejected the rational basis test and an interest-balancing test, suggesting that a heightened standard, such as strict scrutiny or intermediate scrutiny, should be used. District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 628 n.27, 634-35 (2008).

Since *Heller*, lower courts have used a variety of approaches to determine whether or not a law is unconstitutional under the Second Amendment. *See, e.g., United States v. Vongxay*, 594 F.3d 1111, 1115

Amendment applied to the states. Four voted to incorporate the Second Amendment via the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *McDonald*, 561 U.S. at 747. Justice Thomas argued that the right to keep and bear arms is a privilege of American citizenship that applies to the states through the Fourth Amendment's Privileges or Immunities Clause. *Id.* at 806 (Thomas, J., *concurring*).

Filed 03-05-2020

(9th Cir. 2010); United States v. Marzzarella, 614 F.3d 85, 89 (3d Cir. 2010).6

In Ezell v. Chicago, the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals suggested that the standard of scrutiny depends on how "close" the law is to the "core" of the Second Amendment right and the "severity of the law's burden on the right." Ezell, 651 F.3d 684, 703 (7th Cir. 2011). A severe burden on a core Second Amendment right requires an "extremely strong public-interest justification" and "a close fit between the government's means and its end." Id. at 708. Conversely, laws further from the core of the Second Amendment, such as those that "regulate rather than restrict" and create "modest burdens on the right" require a lesser burden. Id.

In *Ezell*, an ordinance mandated range training as a prerequisite to lawful gun ownership, yet, at the same time, prohibited all firing ranges in the city. *Id*. at 691. The court stated that the right to maintain proficiency in firearm use was an "important

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals has previously applied an intermediate level of scrutiny to an as-applied challenge to the felon in possession of a firearm statute. See State v. Culver, 2018 WI App 55, ¶ 37, 348 Wis. 222, 918 N.W.2d 103; State v. Pocian, 2012 WI App 58, ¶ 11, 341 Wis. 2d 380, 814 N.W.2d 894; State v. Rueden, No. 2011AP1034-CR, ¶ 6 (WI App June 7, 2012) (unpublished) (App. 110). Mr. Roundtree respectfully requests that this Court overrule these cases regarding the applicable standard of scrutiny.

corollary to the meaningful exercise of the core right to possess firearms for self-defense." Id. at 708. Holding that the regulation came close to the core of the Second Amendment right, the court used a standard that was "not quite 'strict scrutiny." Id.

Unlike the ordinance in *Ezell*, Wis. Stat. § severely burdens 941.29(2) more the Second Amendment core because it completely strips an individual of his right to bears arms. In Ezell, an individual who wanted to lawfully own a gun could simply travel outside the city to use a firing range. In contrast, under § 941.29 individuals convicted of a felony are never allowed to own a firearm. Thus, strict scrutiny should be applied.

To satisfy strict scrutiny, the provision "must be narrowly tailored to serve a compelling state interest." Monroe Cnty. Dep't of Human Servs. v. Kelli B., 2004 WI 48, ¶ 17, 271 Wis. 2d 51, 678 N.W.2d 831. The United States Supreme Court has observed "that it is the rare case in which we have held that a law survives strict scrutiny." Burson v. Freeman, 504 U.S. 191, 211 (1992).

If this Court rejects strict scrutiny, intermediate scrutiny be should applied. Intermediate scrutiny requires a state demonstrate that the challenged statute serves an important government interest, and that the means used are substantially related to achieving that interest. State v. Herrmann, 2015 WI App 97, ¶ 11, 366 Wis. 2d 312, 873 N.W.2d 257. To survive

intermediate scrutiny, "the government demonstrate 'that the recited harms are real, not merely conjectural, and that the regulation will in fact alleviate these harms in a direct and material way." Id. (citation omitted).

demonstrated below, even under intermediate scrutiny standard, the government cannot meet its burden to establish that Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2) is constitutional as applied to Mr. Roundtree.

> Ε. Statutes categorically banning felons from possessing firearms for life are subject to individualized as-applied constitutional challenges.

Heller and McDonald both struck down laws that banned the possession of handguns in the home. In dictum, the Heller decision noted, "although we do not undertake an exhaustive historical analysis today of the full scope of the Second Amendment, nothing in our opinion should be taken to cast doubt on longstanding prohibitions on the possession of firearms by felons and the mentally ill." District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 626 (2008). It added in a footnote, "[w]e identify these presumptively lawful regulatory measures only as examples; our list does not purport to be exhaustive." Id. at 627 n.26 (emphasis added). *Heller*, also, warned that:

> since this case represents this Court's first indepth examination of the Second Amendment, one should not expect it to clarify the entire field

. . . And there will be time enough to expound upon historical justifications for the exceptions we have mentioned if and when those exceptions come before us.

## *Id.* at 635 (emphasis added).

Heller's statement regarding the "presumptive" validity of felon gun dispossession statutes does not foreclose an as-applied challenge. By describing the felon disarmament ban as presumptively lawful, the Supreme Court implied that the presumption may be rebutted. See United States v. Williams, 616 F.3d 685, 692 (7th Cir. 2010).

Thus, a number of courts, including Wisconsin, have examined whether firearm dispossession laws are unconstitutional as applied. See, e.g., Binderup v. Attorney Gen. United States of Am., 836 F.3d 336 (3d 2016) (en banc) (concluding misdemeanor offenses of two challengers were not serious enough to strip them of their Second Amendment rights under the federal statute); Britt v. North Carolina, 363 N.C. 546 (2009) (holding that a state statute prohibiting convicted felons from possessing a firearm was unconstitutional as applied to a man convicted of a non-violent felony drug charge that did not involve a gun 30 years ago); Culver, 2018 WI App 55 (holding that Wis. Stat. § 941.29 was constitutional as applied to a defendant convicted of operating who had been intoxicated, a "plainly dangerous offense"); Pocian, 2012 WI App 58 (holding that Wis. Stat. § 941.29 was constitutional as applied to a defendant who

physically took his victim's property); State v. Rueden, No. 2011AP1034-CR, (WI App June 7, 2012) (unpublished) (App. 109-11) (holding that Wis. Stat. § 941.29 was constitutional as applied to a defendant who had been previously convicted of felony theft and whose current conviction involved stealing a handgun and selling it).

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