**RECEIVED** 05-26-2020 **CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN** 

### STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2018AP594-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LEEVAN ROUNDTREE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM S. POCAN, PRESIDING, AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, THE HONORABLE DAVID A. HANSHER, PRESIDING, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Notably, the 21.4 percent rate of public order offenders recidivating with a violent crime was higher than that of property offenders (16 percent) and drug offenders (17.9 percent). And it was just seven percentage points lower than the rate of violent offenders (28.3 percent). *Id*.

that data, Wisconsin's felon-dispossession statute is substantially related to the objective of keeping guns out of the hands of felons, regardless of the nature of the disqualifying felony because they present a much higher risk compared to nonoffenders that they will misuse them. And even if a majority of nonviolent felons will not later commit a gun-related violent offense, that fact does not render the restriction unconstitutional "because it merely suggests that the fit is not a perfect one." Kanter, 919 F.3d at 449. A reasonable fit is all that is required under intermediate scrutiny. Id.

#### 4. This Court should reject Roundtree's proposed fact-intensive approach.

Roundtree asserts that "[t]o raise an as-applied challenge, an individual must present facts about himself and his background that distinguish his circumstances from individuals historically barred from Second Amendment protections." (Roundtree's Br. 16 (citing Heller, 554 U.S. at 605, 634–35, Binderup v. Att'y Gen., 836 F.3d 336, 350–53 (3d Cir. 2016)).) The cited pages of *Heller* do not clearly support that proposition, at least in the context of a nonviolent felon's challenge to a felon-dispossession statute.

And Binderup represents an approach that is unique to the Third Circuit Court of Appeals; that court applied that approach to easily distinguishable circumstances. There, a narrow majority (eight of fifteen judges sitting en banc) held that § 922(g)(1) was unconstitutional as applied to two individuals convicted of state-law misdemeanors (corrupting

Filed 05-26-2020

a minor and carrying a handgun without a permit) that because they were punishable by more than one year in prison—pulled them under the ambit of the definition of felony in § 922(g) and thus barred them from possessing guns. Binderup, 836 F.3d at 340, 356.

Although eight judges<sup>12</sup> ultimately agreed on the outcome, the reasoning in *Binderup* was fractured. To start, seven judges adopted the unvirtuous citizenry theory of exclusion from the Second Amendment and held that "persons who have committed serious crimes" lose their right to bear arms. Id. at 348–49. They also applied the same two-part test, asking first whether the challengers were excluded from exercising Second Amendment rights and if so, applying the means-ends test. *Id*.

Under the first part of the test, three of those seven judges held that challengers in the appellants' shoes showed that their offenses "were not serious enough to strip them of their Second Amendment rights." Id. at 351; see Kanter, 919 F.3d at 444 (discussing *Binderup*). Those judges explained that while the two appellants' offenses technically met the definition of a felony in § 922(g), the respective state legislatures designated them as misdemeanors. Binderup, 836 F.3d at 351. Those designations were highly significant: "a state legislature's classification of an offense as a misdemeanor is a powerful expression of its belief that the offense is not serious enough to be disqualifying." Id. It was

<sup>12</sup> The eight judges included three who agreed on the portions of the opinion holding that § 922(g) was unconstitutional as applied to the appellants because they were not excluded from Second Amendment protections and the statute did not satisfy intermediate scrutiny. Binderup, 836 F.3d at 351–54. Those three were joined by five judges who concurred in the result, but under different reasoning. See id. at 367, 375-76 (Hardiman, J., concurring in part and concurring in judgments).

also significant to those three judges that neither of the defendants' offenses were violent, each offender received a "minor" sentence, and any consensus from other jurisdictions that the crimes were considered "serious" was lacking. *Id.* at 352.

As for the means-ends test, the three judges concluded that the government failed its burden under intermediate scrutiny because it relied on "off-point statistical studies" involving incarcerated felons, whereas the appellants in this case were misdemeanants who had served no jail time. *Id.* at 354.

The *Binderup* analysis is inapt. The challengers in that case had committed nonviolent state *misdemeanors* that were swept within § 922(g) simply because their maximum exposure was akin to a low-level felony. The challenge involved the intersection of state legislative intent in designating the challengers' crimes misdemeanors with a federal statute that appeared to be directed at persons who had committed crimes that state legislatures recognized as felonies. Unlike in *Binderup*, Roundtree committed a felony in Wisconsin, and he is claiming that he should not be subject to Wisconsin's felon-dispossession statute, which is facially constitutional to the extent that it bars felons as a category from gun possession.

Moreover, no other courts have appeared to embrace the Third Circuit's approach. Notably, the Seventh Circuit rejected the *Binderup* approach, highlighting the "serious institutional and administrative concerns" that this highly fact-intensive analysis would require courts to make. *Kanter*, 919 F.3d at 450. As that court discussed—as does the State in Part I.C *supra*—the question whether a particular offense should fall under the ambit of Wisconsin's felon-dispossession law is a policy question best left to the Legislature; the question whether Roundtree is worthy of no longer having a

Filed 05-26-2020

felony conviction on his record is best left to the Executive. 13 Deciding case by case whether a particular felon and the nature of their particular felony should exclude them from the felon-dispossession law is a fact-intensive task that implicates policy and clemency concerns outside the judiciary's proper scope and that is ill-suited given its limited resources.

Finally, Roundtree does not offer this court much by way of facts that would support the conclusion that the felondispossession statute should not apply to him. He says that his past crime "took place more than ten years ago, [and] did not involve any physical or violent act that implicates public safety concerns." (Roundtree's Br. 17.) He also suggests that since he was not caught in public with the gun he illegally purchased, "this case also did not involve any physical or violent act." (Id.) Roundtree otherwise tries to distinguish his situation from those in the other Wisconsin cases rejecting nonviolent felon as-applied challenges. (*Id.* at 18.)

Roundtree's arguments miss the point. As discussed, this sort of factual determination is inappropriate and impractical. Moreover, for courts to fact-match a defendant's circumstances with those from the few other citable Wisconsin appellate cases creates an unstable, amorphous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Roundtree also cites Britt v. North Carolina, 681 S.E.2d 320 (N.C. 2009), as an example of a court entertaining an asapplied constitutional challenge to felon-dispossession laws. (Roundtree's Br. 15.) Britt is unpersuasive legally because the challenge was based on North Carolina's constitution, not the Second Amendment. 681 S.E.2d at 322. It is also distinguishable factually because Britt had had his civil rights fully restored for 17 years following his felony conviction, only to have the law later change to dispossess him of his right to bear arms. Id. at 321. In addition, it was significant to the court that Britt complied with the change in law by turning over his firearms and filing suit, rather than violating the law, id. at 323, as Roundtree did.

Filed 05-26-2020

standard. Even if this Court were to make a factual assessment and comparison, the touchstone isn't Roundtree's past or present dangerousness or violence. It is Roundtree's act of at least four times failing to pay support for over 120 days, a crime that the Wisconsin Legislature, like most other legislatures, 14 deemed serious enough to be a felony. And, because Roundtree committed a felony, the Legislature, like its federal and state counterparts, has deemed Roundtree ineligible to possess firearms.

In all events, the facts aren't on Roundtree's side. Roundtree had four disqualifying felonies: four counts of felony failure to support across two cases. In those cases, Roundtree was ordered to pay arrears totaling \$7300 to the custodial parent. 15 That Roundtree effectively kept \$7300 in contempt of a court order earmarking that money for his children is not readily distinguishable from other cases in which the defendants' felonies involved taking property. See, e.g., Pocian, 341 Wis. 2d 380, ¶ 15 (Pocian's disqualifying felonies were for uttering a forged writing, ultimately stealing \$1500 in others' money); Rueden, 2012 WL 2036008, ¶ 10 (disqualifying felony was illegal entry and stealing items from a person's shed).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Failure to pay child support for more than 120 days has been a Class E felony in Wisconsin since 1985. See 1985 Wis. Act 56. As of 2015, every state has some form of criminal sanction for failure to pay child support; Wisconsin is one of 35 states imposing felony liability or its equivalent under certain circumstances. See Nat'l Conf. of State Legislatures, Criminal Nonsupport and Child Support, June 8, 2015, https://www.ncsl.org/research/humanservices/criminal-nonsupport-and-child-support.aspx#50-State%20Table.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See Wisconsin Court System Circuit Court Access, State of Wisconsin v. Leevan Roundtree, Milwaukee County Case Nos. 2003CF2243 & 2003CF2244, https://wcca.wicourts.gov (last visited March 27, 2020).

Further, Roundtree is in no position to claim that he "poses no danger to public safety" (Roundtree's Br. 19) because he has continued to violate the law when he purchased a stolen handgun from a "kid on the street." *Cf. Britt v. North Carolina*, 681 S.E.2d 320, 323 (N.C. 2009) (noting in civil action raising as-applied challenge that Britt's history of law-abiding behavior included his complying with the felon-dispossession statute). That Roundtree did not know that the gun was stolen is irrelevant. Even if Roundtree didn't know, he certainly had reason to suspect that he was purchasing an illegally obtained gun. More importantly, Roundtree's back-alley purchase necessarily supported street-level gun commerce, which is inextricably linked to gun violence.

In sum, this Court should hold that as-applied constitutional challenges to section 941.29(1m) by felons based on the age or lack of violence in their disqualifying crimes are not viable. Alternatively, however, should this Court entertain the facts of Roundtree's claim, the statute is constitutional as applied to him under intermediate scrutiny.

### II. Wisconsin law currently holds that *Class* does not affect Wisconsin's guilty plea waiver rule.

The postconviction court in this case rejected Roundtree's claim by applying the guilty plea waiver rule, which deems forfeited as-applied challenges to the statute of conviction. (R. 40:2.) While the State recognizes that the postconviction court's decision is not the focus of this case and that this Court is unlikely to apply waiver, the State presents this argument to respond to Roundtree's position that the waiver rule should not apply to defendants raising as-applied claims like his.

# A. Under Wisconsin's guilty plea waiver rule, a guilty plea waives (or forfeits) an as-applied constitutional challenge to the statute of conviction.

With a few exceptions not relevant here, a valid guilty or no contest plea waives all nonjurisdictional defenses to a conviction, including constitutional violations. *See State v. Riekkoff*, 112 Wis. 2d 119, 122–23, 332 N.W.2d 744 (1983). Courts refer to this as the guilty plea waiver rule, although it is more accurately described as a rule of forfeiture. *See Kelty*, 294 Wis. 2d 62, ¶ 18 & n.11.

In Wisconsin, whether a guilty plea forecloses a constitutional challenge to the statute under which a defendant was convicted depends on whether the challenge is facial or as applied. The guilty plea waiver rule does not foreclose a facial constitutional challenge because that type of challenge involves an issue of subject matter jurisdiction. See State v. Cole, 2003 WI 112, ¶ 46, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328; see also State v. Olson, 127 Wis. 2d 412, 420, 380 N.W.2d 375 (Ct. App. 1985) ("A statute, unconstitutional on its face, is void from its beginning to the end . . . ." (quoting State ex rel. Comm'rs of Pub. Lands v. Anderson, 56 Wis. 2d 666, 672, 203 N.W.2d 84 (1973))).

An as-applied challenge, in contrast, raises a non-jurisdictional defect that may be waived. See Cole, 264 Wis. 2d 520, ¶ 46. For example, in Cole, Cole pleaded guilty to Wis. Stat. § 941.23, which prohibited his carrying a concealed weapon, and he raised an as-applied constitutional challenge in a motion for postconviction relief. Id. The supreme court held that as a result of his plea, Cole "waived the opportunity to challenge the constitutionality of" section 941.23 as applied to him. Id.

### B. *Class* has no effect on Wisconsin's guilty plea waiver rule.

Roundtree contends that *Class v. United States*, 138 S. Ct. 798 (2018), changes Wisconsin's guilty plea waiver rule to provide that defendants who plead guilty retain the right to appeal with an as-applied constitutional challenge to the statute of conviction. (Roundtree's Br. 19–20.)

Not so. The Wisconsin Court of Appeals recently held that *Class* does not change Wisconsin's guilty plea waiver rule. *See State v. Jackson*, 2020 WI App 4, ¶ 9, 390 Wis. 2d 402, 938 N.W.2d 639. 16

That decision is sound. *Class* involved a federal criminal defendant who entered an unconditional guilty plea under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11. He then challenged the statute of conviction, which bars individuals from carrying a firearm on Capitol grounds, as violating the Second Amendment and violating the due process fair-notice requirement. *Class*, 138 S. Ct. at 802. The question before the Supreme Court was "whether a guilty plea by itself bars a federal criminal defendant from challenging the constitutionality of the statute of conviction on direct appeal." *Id.* at 803.

The Court held that Class's guilty plea did not waive his constitutional claims on direct appeal because they "challenge the Government's power to criminalize Class' (admitted) conduct. They thereby call into question the Government's power to 'constitutionally prosecute' him." *Class*, 138 S. Ct. at 805. Moreover, the Court held, nothing in Rule 11 prevented Class from raising the claims simply based on his guilty plea. *Id.* at 805–07.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> As of this writing, Jackson's petition for review is pending before this Court.

Class does not impact Wisconsin's guilty plea waiver rule. By the Court's words, the question presented was whether a *federal* criminal defendant's guilty plea, pursuant to federal Rule 11, waived his constitutional challenges to the statute of conviction. Class, 138 S. Ct. at 803.

More significantly, the Supreme Court's distinction between a constitutional challenge calling into question the government's power to prosecute and one that does not, id. at 803–04, echoes the jurisdictional distinction recognized in Wisconsin between facial and as-applied challenges. See Jackson, 390 Wis. 2d 402, ¶ 9. A facial challenge is one that "strip[s] the government of its ability to obtain a conviction against any defendant." United States v. Phillips, 645 F.3d 859, 863 (7th Cir. 2011). In contrast, an as-applied challenge "does not dispute the court's power to hear cases under the statute; rather, it questions the court's limited ability to enter a conviction in the case before it." Id. (citing Blackledge v. Perry, 417 U.S. 21, 30 (1974)). Wisconsin courts, in developing the guilty plea waiver rule, have long applied that distinction between facial challenges implicating the court's jurisdiction and nonjurisdictional as-applied challenges. 17

Accordingly, *Class* does not affect Wisconsin's guilty plea waiver rule. Even if Roundtree's as-applied claim is viable, he has forfeited it with his guilty plea. The postconviction court soundly rejected Roundtree's postconviction motion on that basis.

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